THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

JUL 26 2016

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

**SC Court of Appeals**

Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2012-CP-26-05610

**Appellate Case No.: 2015-002638**

Shaul Levy and Mier Levy ..... Respondent,

v.

Carolinian, LLC ..... Appellant.

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

David B. Miller, SC Bar # 10296  
Benjamin A. Baroody, SC Bar # 72533  
BELLAMY, RUTENBERG, COPELAND,  
EPPS, GRAVELY & BOWERS, P.A.  
P.O. Box 357  
Myrtle Beach, SC 29578  
(843) 448-2400  
*Counsel for Appellant*

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Did the Trial Court err by scheduling a second trial on the merits of this case following remittitur from the Supreme Court without remand for further proceedings?
2. Did an active case or controversy exist for a second trial on the merits of this case following the Supreme Court's remittitur?
3. Did the Trial Court have jurisdiction to award the relief sought in Respondents' Complaint following remittitur?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **A. SUMMARY OF APPEAL**

This appeal arises from a dispute about the effect of the Supreme Court's reversal of the Trial Court's order without remand for further proceedings. Appellant Carolinian, LLC ("Carolinian") and Respondents Shaul and Meir Levy ("the Levys") tried this case on stipulated facts before the Honorable Steven H. John on January 8, 2013. The dispositive issue at trial was whether Carolinian could compel the Levys to sell the distributional interest of one of its members that the Levys had acquired at a judicial foreclosure sale. Judge John held that Carolinian could compel the sale pursuant to the terms of its Operating Agreement. The Levys moved for reconsideration, which Judge John denied. The Levys appealed, and the Supreme Court assumed jurisdiction over the appeal. The Levys asked the Supreme Court to reverse Judge John's order "and remand with instructions for the circuit court to file an Order granting the relief sought in the Levys' declaratory judgment action and requested herein." The Supreme Court reversed, declaring that Carolinian could

not compel the Levys to sell the distributional interest following the foreclosure sale. Since the Supreme Court awarded the Levys all of the relief sought in their appeal, the Court simply remitted the case to the Horry County Clerk of Court.

The Horry County Clerk of Court thereafter returned the case to the active non-jury trial roster and scheduled a second trial. The Levys sought a trial court order granting them all of the declaratory relief and injunctive relief sought in their Complaint. Carolinian argued that no trial was necessary since the Supreme Court had granted the Levys all of the relief sought in their appeal and simply remitted the case. The Honorable Larry B. Hyman presided over the second trial, which was based upon the same stipulated facts presented before Judge John over two years prior. Judge Hyman entered an order granting nearly all of the relief sought in the Levys' Complaint. Carolinian moved for reconsideration. After a hearing, Judge Hyman denied the motion. This appeal followed.

Carolinian requests this Court vacate Judge Hyman's order on three grounds: First, the Supreme Court awarded the Levys all of the relief sought in their appeal and ended this case. The Supreme Court's opinion specifically declares that Carolinian may not invoke Article XI of its Operating Agreement to compel the Levys to sell the distributional interest in Carolinian they acquired at the foreclosure sale. No further action was required to provide the Levys with precisely what they sought on appeal and the Supreme Court properly remitted a copy of its Opinion into the circuit court's file. Second, since the Supreme Court's order resolved the one and only controversy between the parties, there was no case or controversy between the parties left for Judge Hyman to resolve. The nature of much of the relief sought by the Levys, such as an order instructing Carolinian to comply with the law, is purely advisory in nature. Third, the issues ruled upon by

Judge Hyman in his order that were not addressed by the Supreme Court had been abandoned by the Levys. None of those ancillary issues were ruled upon by Judge John or raised on appeal.

Carolinian has appealed Judge Hyman's order not because it necessarily disputes the substance of all of the Court's findings at this time, but because it fears that the Levys may use the order, which includes a permanent injunction, as a hammer to subvert Carolinian's inherent ability to make sound business decisions through the threat of contempt if and when they see fit to accomplish their own goals. No member of Carolinian, LLC has such a hammer. The Levys are, admittedly, sophisticated businessmen who are the holders of a mere 23.35% distributional interest in Carolinian. Their rights, by law, are limited to receiving distributions and nothing more. To cause Carolinian's management to question whether each and every business judgment made constitutes "maintaining unauthorized sole dominion and control" over their distributional interest rights, amongst other conceivable interpretations of Judge Hyman's order, could very well lead to an undue burden upon Carolinian and its members.

## **B. FACTUAL BACKGROUND**

The following factual background contains undisputed facts which can be gleaned from the Stipulation of Facts filed with the trial court on January 8, 2013. On February 10, 2010, the Levys filed a Confession of Judgment executed by Bhupendra Patel ("Patel") in the amount of \$2,500,000.00 in the Horry County public records. Patel was a member of Carolinian, LLC ("Carolinian"). On August 12, 2011, following the commencement of supplemental proceedings against Patel, the Horry County Master in Equity imposed charging liens against Patel's distributional interest in four entities, including Carolinian. The Levys subsequently moved to

foreclose those liens and, by Order dated March 14, 2012, ordered the interests sold at public auction. The sale was thereafter scheduled and, by Order dated April 10, 2012, the Master confirmed the sale of Patel's distributional interest in Carolinian to the Levys for the purchase price of \$215,000.00.

On June 11, 2012, following the Levys' purchase of Patel's distributional interest, Carolinian notified the Levys that Patel was prohibited from transferring his distributional interest to a third party without its prior permission pursuant to Article XI of the Carolinian Operating Agreement. Carolinian also advised the Levys of its right and intention to purchase Patel's distributional interest from them pursuant to the terms of the same Article XI. The Levys responded by arguing that any right Carolinian may have had to acquire Patel's interest expired upon the conclusion of the foreclosure sale. Carolinian disagreed and responded by notifying the Levys of its intention to proceed with the appraisal process outlined in Article XI of the Operating Agreement. This action followed.

**C. TRIAL BEFORE JUDGE JOHN**

On July 23, 2012, the Levys commenced this action to enjoin Carolinian from taking any further action to exercise its rights under Article XI of the Operating Agreement against the Levys. The Levys' Complaint plead causes of action for a Declaratory Judgment and a Permanent Injunction. Specifically, the Levys prayed for the following relief in their Complaint:

**A. An Order declaring that:**

- a. Plaintiffs are the current, true and lawful owners of Patel's distributional interests in Carolinian as confirmed by the Horry County Master in Equity in its Order Confirming Sale;**



of the Carolinian Operating Agreement. [R. pp. 73-85]. Carolinian consented to the entry of a temporary injunction to maintain the status quo of this case prior to trial. [R. pp. 10-11].

On January 8, 2013, a non-jury trial was held before the Honorable Steven H. John, Horry County Circuit Court Judge, based upon stipulated facts. [R. pp. 231-236]. By Order filed January 28, 2013, the Court denied the Levys' claim for a declaratory judgment, granted Carolinian's request for a declaratory judgment, and vacated the injunction. [R. pp. 12-21]. Judge John held that Carolinian could exercise its right to buy the Levys' distributional interest pursuant to Article XI thereof and that doing so would not void the foreclosure sale. [R. pp. 12-21].

On February 4, 2013, the Levys filed a Motion for Reconsideration and a Motion for Stay of Proceedings to Enforce Judgment. [R. pp. 90-102; R. pp. 103-105]. The Levys' raised the following issues:

**THE "RIGHT TO BUY" IN SECTIONS 11.2 AND 11.3 OF THE OPERATING AGREEMENT IS INAPPLICABLE TO THE LEVYS.**

**CAROLINIAN, LLC CANNOT ENFORCE ITS RIGHT TO PURCHASE PATEL'S DISTRIBUTIONAL INTERESTS FROM THE LEVYS WITHOUT VOIDING THE FORECLOSURE SALE.**

**ANY ATTEMPT TO VOID THE FORECLOSURE SALE OF PATEL'S DISTRIBUTIONAL INTEREST IS IMPROPER AND CANNOT BE ENFORCED.**

**THE APPLICATION OF THE COURT'S ORDER RESULTS IN A DISPARATE IMPACT ON THE PURCHASER OF A DISTRIBUTIONAL INTEREST AS COMPARED TO ANY OTHER TRANSFER.**

**DECISION OF THE COURT IS INCONSISTENT WITH THE STATUTORY SCHEME ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATURE.**

Carolinian filed a Motion in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider and Motion for Stay on February 15, 2013. [R. pp. 106-117]. By Order filed February 22, 2013, Judge John denied both motions. [R. p. 22].

#### **D. APPEAL TO THE SUPREME COURT**

The Levys timely appealed Judge John's Order. In their Final Brief filed with the Supreme Court, the Levys raised the following four issues on appeal:

1. **Did the circuit court err in ruling that the April 2, 2012, foreclosure sale transferred Bhupendra Patel's interest in the Carolinian, LLC, to the Levys?**
2. **Did the circuit court err in ruling that the Carolinian, LLC, may exercise its "Right to Buy" under Section 11.2 of the Carolinian, LLC's Operating Agreement against the Levys as transferees of Patel's distributional interest?**
3. **Did the circuit court err in ruling that the Levys' rights, as nonmember transferees, would exceed the rights of the transferor, Patel, if the Levys were not subject to all sections of the Operating Agreement?**
4. **Did the circuit court err in ruling that Carolinian, LLC, may compel the purchase and sale of the Levys' distributional interest in Carolinian, LLC, without voiding the foreclosure sale of Bhupendra Patel's distributional interest in Carolinian, LLC, to the Levys?**

At the conclusion of their Final Brief to the Supreme Court, the Levys requested the following relief:

**For the reasons discussed above, this Court should reverse the circuit court's rulings and remand with instructions for the circuit court to file an Order granting the relief sought in the Levy's declaratory judgment action and requested herein.** [R. pp. 118-144] (Emphasis added).

Thus, the sole and exclusive purpose of the Levys' appeal was to request the Supreme Court to reverse Judge John's opinion on the ultimate issue in this case-whether or not Carolinian could compel the purchase of the Levys' distributional interest after the judicial foreclosure sale. Nowhere in the Levys' brief do they request any other form of declaratory relief. Nowhere in the Levys' brief do they request a permanent injunction at all.

By Order filed April 5, 2013, Carolinian again consented to the restoration of the Temporary Injunction pending the outcome of the appeal. [R. pp. 23-25].

By Order filed September 3, 2014, the Supreme Court reversed Judge John's Order, holding:

**The dispositive issue in this case is whether Carolinian may compel the Levy's to sell the distributional interest they acquired through the foreclosure sale.**

\*\*\*

**We find the trial court committed an error of law in finding the provisions of Article XI of the Operating Agreement applied and restricted the Levy's right to foreclose their charging lien without the consent of Carolinian for its members.**

\*\*\*

**We reverse the trial court and find that the provisions of Article 11 of the Operating Agreement did not restrict the Levys' right to foreclose their charging lien against Patel's distributional interest, and we further find that Carolinian may not now invoke the provisions of Article 11 to compel the Levys to sell the distributional interest they acquired through the foreclosure sale. [R. pp. 26-33].**

By Order dated October 21, 2014, the Supreme Court denied Carolinian's Petition for Rehearing. [R. pp. 34-35].

#### **E. REMITTITUR TO HORRY COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT**

The Supreme Court did not remand the case for further proceedings. Rather, on October 21, 2014, the Supreme Court mailed a letter to the Horry County Clerk of Court entitled

**“REMITTITUR,”** stating **“The above referenced matter is hereby remitted to the lower court or tribunal. A copy of the judgment of this Court is enclosed.”** [R. pp. 36-37].

On December 5, 2014, the Horry County Clerk of Court notified counsel for the parties via e-mail that the case had been added to the non-jury trial roster for the week of January 5, 2015, a term over which Judge John would preside. [R. p. 37]. On January 5, 2014, counsel attended the roster meeting. When the roster was called, Judge John announced that he was not going to hear the case following the disposition by the Supreme Court and continued the hearing. Ultimately, the case was added to the April 13, 2015 trial roster. [R. p. 238]. The hearing was subsequently continued to the May 12, 2015 trial roster. [R. p. 239].

**F. SECOND TRIAL BEFORE JUDGE HYMAN**

On May 12, 2015, a non-jury trial was held before the Honorable Larry B. Hyman. The only facts before the court were those facts as stipulated before Judge John at the January 8, 2013 non-jury trial. [R. pp. 175-206; R. pp. 231-236]. No new evidence was presented. Based upon the arguments of counsel, Judge Hyman entered an Order granting the Levys all but one form of the declaratory relief sought and all of the injunctive relief sought in their Complaint. [R. pp. 1-3].

Specifically, the Court declared:

- 1. Plaintiffs are the current, true owner of Bhupendra Patel’s distributional interest in Carolinian.**
- 2. Any right of Carolinian to purchase Patel’s distributional interest pursuant to the terms of Carolinian’s Operating Agreement terminated upon the sale of the distributional interest to Plaintiffs at the public action held April 2, 2012.**

3. **Other than dissolution and wind-up of Carolinian's business, neither Carolinian nor its member can force Plaintiffs to sell their distributional interests in Carolinian.**
4. **Carolinian must abide by the requirements set forth in the South Carolina Uniform Limited Liability Company Act with regards to the rights of Plaintiffs as transferees of the subject distributional interest.**

**Further, the Defendants are PERMANENTLY ENJOINED from:**

1. **Maintaining unauthorized sole dominion and control over the distributional interest rights rightfully belonging to Plaintiffs;**
2. **Making unauthorized and wrongful distributions of Carolinian, LLC funds in a manner inconsistent with or adverse to the distributional interests of Plaintiffs;**
3. **Taking any actions to sell or attempting to force the sale of Plaintiffs' distributional interest in Carolinian, and**
4. **Taking any actions inconsistent with the requirements set forth in the South Carolina Uniform Limited Liability Act, including provisions of S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-503(e), and the Operating Agreement.**

On June 16, 2015, Carolinian timely filed a Motion for Reconsideration. [R. pp. 156-163]. A hearing was held on November 16, 2015. [R. pp. 207-229]. By Order filed December 8, 2015, Judge Hyman denied Carolinian's motion. [R. pp. 4-7]. Carolinian timely filed and served its notice of appeal on December 28, 2015. [R. pp. 165-166].

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The Levys' Complaint contained causes of action for both an injunction and declaratory relief. Carolinian's Counterclaim asserted an action for a declaratory judgment. "When legal and equitable actions are maintained in one suit, each retains its own identity as legal or equitable for

purposes of the applicable standard of review on appeal.” Consignment Sales, LLC v. Tucker Oil Co., 391 S.C. 261, 270, 705 S.E.2d 73, 75 (Ct. App. 2010).

The standard of review applicable to declaratory judgment actions depends upon the nature of the underlying controversy. Barnacle Broadcasting, Inc. v. Baker Broadcasting, Inc., 343 S.C. 140, 146, 538 S.E.2d 672 (Ct. App. 2000). Since the underlying controversy concerns the construction of the Carolinian Operating Agreement, that portion of the Trial Court’s order is reviewed to correct errors of law. Barnacle Broadcasting, Inc., 675, 146.

Conversely, the Levys’ action for a permanent injunction is one in equity. Therefore, an appellate court “may determine facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence.” Park Regency, LLC, et. al. v. R&D Development of the Carolinas, LLC, et. al., 402 S.C. 401, 411, 741 S.E.2d 528, 533 (CT. App. 2012).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE SUPREME COURT GRANTED THE LEVYS ALL OF THE RELIEF SOUGHT IN THEIR APPEAL AND ENDED THIS CASE.**

This Court should vacate the order of Judge Hyman since the Supreme Court granted the Levys the precise declaratory judgment sought by them on appeal and ended this case. Considering each of the four issues raised by the Levys on appeal, the Court found the “dispositive issue” in the case and on appeal to be “whether Carolinian may compel the Levys to sell the distributional interest they acquired through the foreclosure sale.” [R. pp. 26-33]. The Supreme Court first found that Judge John committed an error of law by finding that Article XI of the Carolinian Operating Agreement could effectively restrict the Levys’ right to foreclose their charging lien against Patel’s

distributional interest. The Supreme Court next entered a declaratory judgment as follows: “We ... find that the provisions of Article 11 of the Operating Agreement did not restrict the Levys’ right to foreclose their charging lien against Patel’s distributional interest, and we further find that Carolinian may not now invoke the provisions of Article 11 to compel the Levys to sell the distributional interest they acquired through the foreclosure sale.” [R. pp. 26-33]. The Supreme Court had the opportunity to “affirm, reverse, or modify the decision below or remand all or any issues for further proceedings.” Rule 220(a), SCACR. The Levys requested the Supreme Court “remand with instructions for the circuit court to file an Order granting the relief sought in the Levy’s declaratory judgment action and requested herein.” [R. pp. 118-144]. The Supreme Court decided to enter its own declaratory judgment and remit a copy thereof into the circuit court’s file. This judgment awarded the Levys all of the relief they sought both at trial and on appeal, and it ended this case. Therefore, this Court should vacate the order of Judge Hyman.

## **II. THE TRIAL COURT LACKED JURISDICTION TO AWARD THE LEVYS THE ADDITIONAL DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF SOUGHT IN THEIR COMPLAINT.**

As stated by the Supreme Court, the “dispositive” issue in this case was precisely the issue argued about by counsel for the Levys and Carolinian in their letters exchanged prior to the commencement of this lawsuit. Carolinian argued that it could exercise its right to buy Patel’s distributional interest from the Levys after the judicial foreclosure sale pursuant to Article XI of the Operating Agreement as Patel’s transferees. The Levys argued that Carolinian only had a pre-sale right of redemption pursuant to Article III of the Operating Agreement, and that any post-sale purchase would effectively void the foreclosure sale. The trial court ordered that Carolinian could exercise its right to buy Patel’s distributional interest from the Levys pursuant to Article XI and

move forward with the appraisal process to value the interest. The Levys appealed only this ultimate issue to the Supreme Court. The Supreme Court reversed, finding Carolinian could not exercise its Article XI right to buy against the Levys following the foreclosure sale. Following the receipt of the Supreme Court's denial of Carolinian's Petition for Rehearing, Carolinian conceded that it could not purchase their interest pursuant to Article XI of the Operating Agreement because that is what the Supreme Court's declaratory judgment says.

All other issues raised in the Levys' Complaint were ancillary issues that were neither the subject of any dispute or controversy at the time nor material to the ultimate issue in this case. These ancillary issues include, for example, whether Carolinian must abide by the provisions of the South Carolina Limited Liability Company Act of 1996 and whether Carolinian should be permanently enjoined from making wrongful distributions at some unknown time in the future. Judge John's order did not rule on any of these ancillary issues and the Levys did not request Judge John rule on these issues when they moved for reconsideration. The Levys' appeal addresses none of these ancillary issues. As such, the Levys abandoned these issues at trial and Judge Hyman lacked jurisdiction to entertain further proceedings on them in a second trial.

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