STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED  
JUL 28 2016  
SC Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2012-CP-26-05610

Appellate Case No. 2015-002638

---

Shaul Levy and Mier Levy,.....Respondents,

v.

Carolinian, LLC,.....Appellant.

---

**FINAL RESPONDENTS' BRIEF**

---

R. Wayne Byrd Audra M. Byrd
--------------------------------

Turner Padget Graham & Laney, P.A.  
2411 North Oak St., Suite 301  
Myrtle Beach, SC 29577  
(843) 213-5500

Mark B. Goddard  
R. Hawthorne Barrett  
Turner Padget Graham & Laney, P.A.  
P.O. Box 1473  
Columbia, SC 29202  
(803) 254-2200

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

question of what relief the Levys should receive under the correct interpretation of the law was not before the Court because the trial court obviously had not addressed it. Thus, that issue remained unresolved after the Supreme Court's decision, and further proceedings in the trial court were required. This is not only the clear implication of the Supreme Court's decision, but also a necessary corollary to it.

Carolinian appears to rely on the absence of the phrase "remanded for further proceedings" from the Supreme Court's opinion as support for its assertion that the action terminated once the Supreme Court had ruled. This argument elevates form over substance. Regardless of what phrase did or did not appear at the end of the published opinion, the fact remains that the Levys still had pending claims for declaratory and injunctive relief. The trial court had not had the opportunity to address those claims under the correct interpretation of the applicable law as determined by the Supreme Court. The logical – and mandatory – next step was for the trial court to conduct additional proceedings to determine the specific nature of the relief the Levys should receive in light of the Supreme Court's decision. This is, of course, exactly what happened.

Furthermore, the Supreme Court gave no indication that it intended its opinion to terminate the case. The Record on Appeal demonstrated the existence of the Levys' claims for relief, which means the Court was aware of them. It was also clear that the Supreme Court's decision on the legal question on appeal entitled the Levys to at least some of the relief they sought. By declining to discuss the Levys' claims for relief, the Court was not only implicitly, but also

necessarily allowing the trial court to address those claims. This is the only fair and reasonable interpretation of the Supreme Court's silence on that issue.

Carolinian's interpretation of the Court's silence, on the other hand, is neither fair nor reasonable under the circumstances. As discussed above, the Levys sought a declaratory judgment and an injunction based on their interpretation of the superiority of their statutory foreclosure rights over Carolinian's Operating Agreement. Although the trial court ruled against the Levys on that legal issue, they pursued the matter to the Supreme Court, which vindicated their position by reversing the trial court. The Levys thus won on the central legal issue in the state's highest court, and that victory cleared the way for them to obtain the relief they had sought in the first place. But under Carolinian's interpretation of the Supreme Court's decision, the Levys' victory on the legal issue would be rendered effectively meaningless; the Levys would win on the law, but not be entitled to any practical relief. This absurd result cannot possibly be what the Supreme Court intended when it ruled in the Levys' favor. Therefore, this Court should reject Carolinian's arguments.

It is also important to consider the practical effect of Carolinian's position if one follows that position to its logical conclusion. Assuming for the sake of this argument that Carolinian were correct and the trial court did not have any authority or ability to conduct any further proceedings, the resulting order could arguably be reversed as a nullity. Even if that were to happen, however, the eventual end result would be the same. The Levys would simply commence a new action seeking the same declaratory and injunctive relief, using the law

established by the Supreme Court's opinion as the basis for that relief pursuant to the doctrine of collateral estoppel / issue preclusion. *See Carolina Renewal, Inc. v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp.*, 385 S.C. 550, 684 S.E.2d 779 (Ct. App. 2009). With the fundamental legal issue already resolved in their favor, the Levys would be entitled to declaratory and/or injunctive relief. The only purpose of the subsequent action, therefore, would be for a judge to determine the nature and extent of the Levys' remedies – *i.e.* the exact same function the trial court performed after the remand from the Supreme Court.

Forcing the Levys to go through that pointless exercise would not only be unnecessary, it would also require the kind of piecemeal litigation that South Carolina's courts have consistently discouraged. *See, e.g., Senter v. Piggly Wiggly Carolina Co.*, 341 S.C. 74, 78, 533 S.E.2d 575, 577 (2000) (avoiding piecemeal litigation is a "salutary consideration"); *Breland v. Love Chevrolet Olds, Inc.*, 339 S.C. 89, 94, 529 S.E.2d 11, 13 (2000) (avoiding piecemeal litigation is "the best policy to follow"). The exact same parties would repeat the same arguments in the same venue to the same end. The only difference would be a later docket number and the gratuitous delay associated with it. Yet, this undesirable result is the logical conclusion of Carolinian's argument, which this Court should reject.<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> Carolinian's suggestion that the Levys somehow waived their claims for relief by not arguing them in the Supreme Court must also fail. As previously explained, the Levys could not assert those claims in the Supreme Court because the trial court had not made any rulings on their merits. The claims were not ripe for any review or decision by an appellate court during the first appeal. Thus, the Levys properly limited their arguments in that appeal to the one issue that was

The Supreme Court's decision left the Levys with a legal victory, but in need of an order to set forth their resulting remedies. The trial court properly conducted additional proceedings to determine the nature and scope of that relief. In doing so, the trial court neither exceeded its authority, nor prejudiced Carolinian in any way. Simply put, the trial court did the job it was supposed to do in light of the Supreme Court's ruling. Carolinian has failed to demonstrate otherwise, and this Court should affirm the trial court's decision in full.

**II. The trial court's additional proceedings addressed an active case or controversy between the Levys and Carolinian.**

The arguments in Carolinian's second and third issues on appeal are essentially the same.<sup>3</sup> Carolinian argues the additional proceedings amounted to error because the Supreme Court's decision completely ended the dispute between the two parties. Stated another way, Carolinian claims there were no longer any active or viable claims for the trial court to address and determine. As discussed below, this argument cannot withstand any serious scrutiny.

Carolinian asserts the Supreme Court's decision rendered the rest of the case moot and left no remaining "justiciable controversy." This assertion is erroneous. As the Supreme Court has recently explained, "a justiciable controversy is a real and substantial controversy that is ripe and appropriate for judicial determination, as opposed to a dispute or difference of contingent,

---

before the Supreme Court, and absolutely no waiver or abandonment occurred. Carolinian has not cited any applicable authority to the contrary.

<sup>3</sup> For this reason, the Levys will address those arguments under this single heading, rather than repeating essentially the same position in two different sections.

hypothetical or abstract character.” *Bundy v. Shirley*, 412 S.C. 292, 302-303, 772 S.E.2d 163, 169 (2015) (citing *Waters v. South Carolina Land Res. Conservation Comm’n*, 321 S.C. 219, 227-228, 467 S.E.2d 913, 917-918 (1996)). Here, such a controversy continued to exist after the Supreme Court’s opinion because the Levys sought more than just a declaration that Carolinian could not force them to sell the distributional interest. If that had ever been the sole issue in the case, then perhaps further proceedings might not have been necessary.<sup>4</sup> From the commencement of the action, however, the Levys asked the trial court to do more than issue that one declaration. The Levys also prayed for additional declarations, as well as injunctions. The scope and nature of that relief remained in dispute, even after the Supreme Court decided the first appeal.

Indeed, Carolinian’s assertions that no disputes exist between the parties ring hollow when Carolinian continues to challenge the relief granted to the Levys. If, as Carolinian suggests, the Supreme Court resolved the only real dispute and all other relief requested by the Levys was redundant, then it is difficult to see why Carolinian has pursued this appeal.<sup>5</sup> Why would Carolinian bother to appeal if the trial court’s Order did not relate to an active dispute between the two sides? Clearly such a “real and active” controversy lingered on,

---

<sup>4</sup> Even under that hypothetical scenario, the trial court would at least have had to file an amended order stating that Carolinian could not, in fact, force a sale of the distributional interest.

<sup>5</sup> During the hearing after remand from the Supreme Court, Carolinian’s counsel claimed an injunction was unnecessary because “We’re gonna do what the operating agreement says and what the law says; there isn’t any question about that.” [R. p. 199, lines 8-9.] Yet, Carolinian continued to oppose the request for an injunction. Something had to still be in dispute for that continued opposition to make any sense.

despite the Supreme Court's decision. On this issue, the Court should look to Carolinian's actions rather than its words.

Carolinian also argues that the request for injunctive relief (beyond ordering Carolinian to follow the law and the Operating Agreement) was so vague that it could not address any actual controversy. The problem with that assertion is that it ignores the reality of an ongoing, adversarial relationship. The Levys own the distributional interest associated with Patel's membership in Carolinian. Carolinian obviously would prefer that the Levys not hold that interest. This creates a state of perpetual conflict that underlies the parties' relationship, even if it does not always rise to the surface. The existence of this conflict creates a constant risk of Carolinian seeking ways to undermine or circumvent the Levys' ownership of the distributional interest. This is simply the reality the Levys face when a hostile entity is responsible for making any distributions to which the Levys are entitled.

Under these circumstances, asking for an injunction that prohibits hyper-specific types of conduct by Carolinian would be an invitation to gamesmanship and future litigation. If the Levys had requested and received an order with such specific injunctions,<sup>6</sup> the resulting laundry list of prohibited acts would conceivably give Carolinian a roadmap for contrary actions it could take. Carolinian could do those things and then argue that the injunction did not cover them, even if they constituted obvious attempts to interfere with the Levys' rights.

---

<sup>6</sup> For example, at the conclusion of the hearing after remand, the trial court cited "not putting enough stamps on the envelope to send a [distribution] check" as something Carolinian should be prohibited from doing. [R. p. 205, lines 11-12.]

The Levys' only recourse in those situations would be to return to the trial court for interpretations of the order. Such a result would be impractical, costly and unfair to the Levys, and it would also constitute a waste of judicial resources.

The only way to avoid that undesirable result was for the Levys to request an injunction that would be broad enough to prevent all interferences with their rights as owners of the distributional interest (other than any actions by Carolinian that are proper under the applicable law). This is exactly the kind of injunction the Levys wanted, and their request for it remained outstanding – and in dispute – after the Supreme Court's decision. Consequently, the trial court had the jurisdiction and authority to address the Levys' remaining claims, and it committed no error in conducting further proceedings or granting the Levys relief.

The Levys' position on this issue is straightforward. In their Verified Complaint, they requested declaratory judgments, as well as injunctive relief to prevent Carolinian from attempting in any way to interfere with their rights as holders of the distributional interest. Neither the trial court's original proceedings nor the Supreme Court's ruling fully resolved those claims. Thus, a real and active dispute between the two sides remained after the first appeal, which meant there was still a justiciable controversy for the trial court to address. For this reason, the Court should reject Carolinian's arguments and affirm the trial court's decision.

**III. The trial court properly granted injunctive relief to the Levys.**

Although this is not entirely clear, Carolinian further appears to challenge the trial court's injunction on substantive grounds, as opposed to the procedural

arguments addressed above. To the extent Carolinian attempts to raise such arguments, they are not preserved for appellate review.

“Issues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by the lower court.” *Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 23, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779-780 (2004). Here, Carolinian did not assert any substantive challenges to the injunction in the trial court. As the transcript from the hearing on May 12, 2015, demonstrates, Carolinian devoted its entire argument to the proposition that no justiciable controversy existed and the trial court should not issue any kind of order in light of the Supreme Court’s decision. Those arguments were based on matters of procedure and jurisdiction; they had nothing to do with the substantive issue – *i.e.* whether the record established a need for injunctive relief in the Levys’ favor. Carolinian simply did not raise that issue at the hearing following the remand from the Supreme Court.

Perhaps for that reason, the trial court also did not rule on the issue. The trial court’s Order briefly recounted the action’s procedural history and then expressly adopted the reasoning of the Supreme Court’s decision. [R. p. 1.] The Order then proceeded to list the trial court’s four declarations and the four parts of the injunction it granted. The trial court did not address any arguments that the injunction lacked a proper factual basis or was otherwise unsupported in the record. Again, the simple reason for this omission is that Carolinian had not previously made those arguments.

Carolinian also failed to raise this issue in the Rule 59(e) motion it filed in response to the Order. Carolinian might have hinted at the argument during the

hearing on the motion,<sup>7</sup> but it never asserted any substantive challenges to the injunction with the requisite specificity. Furthermore, even if the arguments at the hearing had been specific, Carolinian could not properly have asserted them at that juncture, having failed to raise them in the first hearing. *See Dixon v. Dixon*, 362 S.C. 388, 289, 608 S.E.2d 849, 855 (2005) (issue raised for the first time in a post-trial motion is not preserved for appeal).

Carolinian did not really attempt to raise any substantive challenges to the injunction, if at all, until its Appellant's Brief. [App. Brief, pp. 20-21.] At that point, it was too late for Carolinian to make this part of its appeal. "It is well settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved." *Buist v. Buist*, 410 S.C. 569, 574, 761 S.E.2d 381, 383 (2014). "While 'a party is not required to use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve the issue,' ... the party nonetheless must be sufficiently clear in framing his objection so as to draw the court's attention to the precise nature of the alleged error." *Id.* at 574-575, 761 S.E.2d at 383-384 (internal citation omitted). "If the party is not reasonably clear in his objection to the perceived error, he waives his right to challenge the erroneous ruling on appeal." *Id.* at 575, 761 S.E.2d at 384.

Carolinian did not raise any substantive arguments against the injunction at the first hearing after remand, and the only conceivable reference to such an argument at the second post-remand hearing was far too vague to "draw the court's attention to the precise nature of the alleged error." *Buist*, 410 S.C. at 575,

---

<sup>7</sup> See R. p. 220.

761 S.E.2d at 384. Therefore, Carolinian failed to preserve this issue for appeal, and the Court should disregard any such arguments to the extent Carolinian is attempting to assert them.

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